
 
 

 

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
You are invited to attend a Meeting of the  
 

AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 
 
At: 
 

Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Swansea. 
 

On: 
 

Tuesday, 22 July 2014 

Time: 
 

2.00 pm 
 
Members are asked to contact Ian Davies (Team Leader) on 635714 
should they wish to have submitted plans and other images of any of 
the applications on this agenda to be available for display at the 
Committee meeting. 

 
AGENDA 

 
Page No. 

 
 
1 Apologies for Absence.  
 
2 Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests. 1 - 2 
 
3 Minutes. 3 - 6 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the Meeting of the Area 1 
Development Control Committee held on 24 June 2014. 

 

 
4 Items for deferral / withdrawal.  
 
5 Determination of planning applications under the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 
7 - 45 

 
 
 

 
 
Patrick Arran 
Head of Legal, Democratic Services & Procurement 
Tuesday, 15 July 2014 

Contact: Democratic Services - 636824 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 (SECTION 100) (AS AMENDED) 
(NOTE:  The documents and files used in the preparation of this Schedule of 
Planning Applications are identified in the ‘Background Information’ Section of each 
report.  The Application files will be available in the committee room for half an hour 
before the start of the meeting, to enable Members to inspect the contents). 
 
 
 
 
 

AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE (35) 
 

Labour Councillors: 25 

John C Bayliss Erika T Kirchner 

Uta C Clay Andrea S Lewis 

Sybil E Crouch Clive E Lloyd 

Nick J Davies Paul Lloyd  

Phil Downing Penny M Matthews 

C Ryland Doyle Hazel M Morris 

V Mandy Evans Byron G Owen 

Robert Francis-Davies  Pearleen Sangha 

Fiona M Gordon Paulette B Smith 

Joe A Hale Ceinwen Thomas 

Jane E C Harris T Mike White 

Terry J Hennegan Lesley V Walton 

Beverly Hopkins  
 

Liberal Democrat Councillors: 6 

Chris A Holley Paul M Meara 

Jeff W Jones John Newbury 

Richard D Lewis L Graham Thomas 
 

Independent Councillors: 4 

Keith E Marsh D Gareth Sullivan 

Ioan M Richard Gordon D Walker 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\9\4\AI00008496\$3z0utzc2.doc 

Disclosures of Interest 

 
To receive Disclosures of Interest from Councillors and Officers 

 

Councillors 

 
Councillors Interests are made in accordance with the provisions of the 
Code of Conduct adopted by the City and County of Swansea.  You must 
disclose orally to the meeting the existence and nature of that interest. 
 
NOTE: You are requested to identify the Agenda Item / Minute No. / Planning 
Application No. and Subject Matter to which that interest relates and to enter 
all declared interests on the sheet provided for that purpose at the meeting. 
 
1. If you have a Personal Interest as set out in Paragraph 10 of the 

Code, you MAY STAY, SPEAK AND VOTE unless it is also a 
Prejudicial Interest.  

 
2. If you have a Personal Interest which is also a Prejudicial Interest as 

set out in Paragraph 12 of the Code, then subject to point 3 below, you 
MUST WITHDRAW from the meeting (unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the Authority’s Standards Committee) 

 
3. Where you have a Prejudicial Interest you may attend the meeting but 

only for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or 
giving evidence relating to the business, provided that the public are 
also allowed to attend the meeting for the same purpose, whether 
under a statutory right or otherwise.  In such a case, you must 
withdraw from the meeting immediately after the period for 
making representations, answering questions, or giving evidence 
relating to the business has ended, and in any event before further 
consideration of the business begins, whether or not the public are 
allowed to remain in attendance for such consideration (Paragraph 14 
of the Code). 

 
4. Where you have agreement from the Monitoring Officer that the 

information relating to your Personal Interest is sensitive information, 
as set out in Paragraph 16 of the Code of Conduct, your obligation to 
disclose such information is replaced with an obligation to disclose the 
existence of a personal interest and to confirm that the Monitoring 
Officer has agreed that the nature of such personal interest is sensitive 
information. 

 
5. If you are relying on a grant of a dispensation by the Standards 

Committee, you must, before the matter is under consideration: 
 

i) Disclose orally both the interest concerned and the existence of 
the dispensation; and 

ii) Before or immediately after the close of the meeting give written 
notification to the Authority containing: 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



E:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\9\4\AI00008496\$3z0utzc2.doc 

a) Details of the prejudicial interest; 
b) Details of the business to which the prejudicial interest 

relates; 
c) Details of, and the date on which, the dispensation was 

granted; and  
d) Your signature 

 

Officers 

 
Financial Interests 
 
1. If an Officer has a financial interest in any matter which arises for 

decision at any meeting to which the Officer is reporting or at which the 
Officer is in attendance involving any member of the Council and /or 
any third party the Officer shall declare an interest in that matter and 
take no part in the consideration or determination of the matter and 
shall withdraw from the meeting while that matter is considered.  Any 
such declaration made in a meeting of a constitutional body shall be 
recorded in the minutes of that meeting.  No Officer shall make a report 
to a meeting for a decision to be made on any matter in which s/he has 
a financial interest. 

 
2. A “financial interest” is defined as any interest affecting the financial 

position of the Officer, either to his/her benefit or to his/her detriment.  It 
also includes an interest on the same basis for any member of the 
Officers family or a close friend and any company firm or business from 
which an Officer or a member of his/her family receives any 
remuneration.  There is no financial interest for an Officer where a 
decision on a report affects all of the Officers of the Council or all of the 
officers in a Department or Service. 

 

Page 2



 
 

CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 

 
MINUTES OF THE AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE 

 
HELD AT THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, CIVIC CENTRE, SWANSEA. ON 

TUESDAY, 24 JUNE 2014 AT 2.00 PM 

 

 
PRESENT: R Francis-Davies (Chair) presided 

 
Councillor(s) 
 

Councillor(s) 
 

Councillor(s) 
 

J C Bayliss 
U C Clay 
S E Crouch 
N J Davies 
P Downing 
C R Doyle 
V A Evans 
 

F M Gordon 
J A Hale 
J E C Harris 
C A Holley 
E T Kirchner 
A S Lewis 
R D Lewis 
 

P Lloyd 
K E Marsh 
P M Matthews 
B G Owen 
L G Thomas 
L V Walton 
T M White 
 

 
10 TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors B Hopkins, JW Jones, CE Lloyd, HM 
Morris, J Newbury, PB Smith, DG Sullivan, C Thomas and GD Walker 
 

11 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS. 
 
In accordance with the Code of Conduct adopted by the City and County of Swansea, the 
following interests were declared:- 
  
Councillors JC Bayliss, SE Crouch, CR Doyle, P Downing, NJ Davies, CA Holley, ET 
Kirchner, RD Lewis, KE Marsh, P Matthews, BG Owen, D Phillips, LV Walton and TM White 
– Personal - Minute No.14 (Item 2 – Application No.2014/0076) – One of the objectors is 
known to me. 
  
Councillors SE Crouch and D Phillips – Personal – Minute No.14 (Item 2 – Application 
No.2014/0076) – Condition 12 refers to the street in which I am a resident. 
 

12 MINUTES. 
 
RESOLVED that the Minutes of the meeting of the Area 1 Development Control Committee 
held on 27 May 2014 be approved as a correct record subject to the name of councillor JA 
Hale being added to the list of apologies.. 
 

13 ITEMS FOR DEFERRAL / WITHDRAWAL. 
 
None. 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Minutes of the Area 1 Development Control Committee (Tuesday, 24 June 2014) 
Cont’d 

 

 
 
 

14 DETERMINATION OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS UNDER THE TOWN AND 
COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990. 
 
The Head of Economic Regeneration and Planning submitted a series planning 
applications.  Amendments to this schedule were reported and are indicated below 
by (#). 
  
RESOLVED that: - 
  
1) The undermentioned planning applications BE REFUSED for the reasons 
indicated below: 
  
# (Item 1) Planning Application No.2012/1226  
Construction of a four / three storey block containing 50 residential apartments 
(Class C3) and 1 no. ground floor retail unit (Class A1) with associated undercroft 
car parking (outline - including details of access, appearance, layout and scale) at 
The Boat Yard, adjacent to Fishmarket Quay, Trawler Road, Maritime Quarter, 
Swansea. 
  
Mr J Woolliscroft, Mr F Bowen & Mr P East (objectors) and Mr S Williams (agent) 
addressed the Committee. 
  
7 late letters of objection reported. 
  
Late Letters from the Marina Manager (City and County of Swansea) and Celtic 
Instrumentation Ltd (Leaseholder) reported. 
  
Application refused contrary to officer recommendation for the following reasons:- 
1. The introduction of a residential use in close proximity to existing business uses 
would be detrimental to the residential amenity that future residents of the proposed 
development could reasonably expect to enjoy by virtue of the noise, smells and air 
pollution generated by the existing business operations. The proposal is therefore 
contrary to Policies EV2, EV40, HC2 and CC1 of the City and County of Swansea 
Unitary Development Plan (2008). 
2. The introduction of a residential use within close proximity to existing business 
activities, namely the marina boatyard(including the boat hoist operation) and 
commercial fish market would likely result in nuisance complaints from future 
occupiers of the proposed residential apartments, which in turn could unduly impact 
on the operations of those existing businesses, which are of strategic importance to 
the City and County of Swansea and its adopted vision to make Swansea a vibrant, 
attractive and distinctive 21st century Waterfront City which capitalises on its 
waterfront location. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies EV2, EV40, HC2 
and CC1 of the City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan (2008). 
3. The proposed development fails to provide any off-street car parking for visitors to 
the development which will lead to an increase in parking on the adjoining highway 
network to the detriment of highway safety. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
policies EV1, EV3, AS6 and CC1 of the City and County of Swansea Unitary 
Development Plan (2008). 
  
  

Page 4



Minutes of the Area 1 Development Control Committee (Tuesday, 24 June 2014) 
Cont’d 

 

 
 
 

  
# (Item 2) Planning Application No.2014/0076 
Side roof extension, first floor side extension, and external alterations to facilitate 
change of use from offices (Class B1) to 4 no. 2 bedroom and 5 no. 1 bedroom self 
contained apartments (Class C3) with associated parking at 34 Hanover Street, 
Swansea. 
  
Mr D Roberts, Mr J Moore, Mrs L Hulme & Mr J Green (objectors) and Mr P Baxter 
(agent) addressed the Committee 
  
Report updated as follows:- 
Further observations received from two residents raising the following issues  
separation distances between the proposed development and existing houses below 
the Council’s guidelines thereby affecting privacy. The images submitted are drawn 
from the Design Guide for Householder Development.  
  
Comments from an architect both prior to and after the submission of further plans. 
The comments submitted prior to the submission of amended plans refer to 
perceived inaccuracies in the plans, distances between the site and adjacent 
properties, refers to guidelines set out in the Residential Design Guide and Infill and 
Backland Design Guide and recommends a review of scheme in the light of this 
guidance.  Following the submission of the additional drawings, the architect has 
indicated he considers the plans are clearer than the original drawings and accord 
much closer to the impression from a site visit. He considers the other issues 
previously raised should be pursued. 
  
With regard to these comments, members are advised that the scheme is a change 
of use and extensions to an existing building. The guidelines referred to above do 
not therefore apply to this scheme. Notwithstanding this, the general issue of 
residential amenity is material to the determination of the application .  
  
Following the submission of additional plans, the list of plans at the end of the report 
should now read: 
  
3337/PA/001 site plan, 3337/PA/003 existing ground and first floor plans, 
3337/PA/004 existing second floor and garage plans,      3337/PA/005 existing 

elevations, 3337/PA/012 proposed elevations,           received 28
th
 January 2014 and 

3337/PA/002 REV A Amended Plan – existing site survey, 3337/PA/010 REV A 
Amended Plan – proposed site survey, 3337/PA/011 REV A Amended Plan – 
Proposed Ground,   First and Second Floor Plans, 3337/PA/013 REV A Amended 
Plan – Proposed Section B-B Section D-D, 3337/PA/014 Amended Plan – Proposed 

Section through neighbouring properties, dated 13
th
 June 2014 

  
Application refused contrary to officer recommendation for the following reasons:- 
1. The proposed development constitutes a cramped and over-intensive form of 
development that will be detrimental to the residential amenity that residents of 
nearby properties could reasonably expect to enjoy by virtue of increased noise and 
disturbance through comings and goings, particularly from the rear access, and by 
virtue of overlooking of properties to the rear of the site. The development is 

Page 5



Minutes of the Area 1 Development Control Committee (Tuesday, 24 June 2014) 
Cont’d 

 

 
 
 

therefore contrary to policies EV1, EV2 and HC6 of the City and County of Swansea 
Unitary Development Plan (2008) 
  
2. The proposed development will result in an unacceptable impact on local car 
parking and highway safety by virtue of the demand for car parking and vehicle 
movements associated with the density of development. The proposal is therefore 
contrary to policies EV1, HC6 and AS6 of the City and County of Swansea Unitary 
Development Plan (2008) 
  
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 3.57 pm 
 
 

CHAIR 

Page 6



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
CITY AND COUNTY OF SWANSEA 

DINAS A SIR ABERTAWE 

 
Report of the Head of Economic Regeneration & Planning to Chair and Members  

of 
Area 1 Development Control Committee  

DATE: 22ND JULY 2014 

 
Phil Holmes 
BS(Hons), MSc, Dip Econ 
Head of Economic Regeneration & Planning 

 

31

17

2

334

33

6

21

4

16

30

15

19

26

22

 

2.     BONYMAEN 

3.     CASTLE 

4.     CLYDACH 

6.     CWMBWRLA 

15.   LANDORE 

16.   LLANGYFELACH 

17.   LLANSAMLET 

19.   MAWR 

21.   MORRISTON 

22.   MYNYDDBACH 

26.   PENDERRY 

30.   PONTARDDULAIS 

31.   ST. THOMAS 

33.   TOWNHILL 

34.   UPLANDS 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



TWO STAGE VOTING  
 

Where Members vote against officer recommendation, a two stage vote will 
apply.  This is to ensure clarity and probity in decision making and to make 
decisions less vulnerable to legal challenge or awards of costs against the 
Council. 
 
The first vote is taken on the officer recommendation. 
 
Where the officer recommendation is for “approval” and Members resolve not 
to accept this recommendation, reasons for refusal should then be formulated 
and confirmed by means of a second vote. 
 
The application will not be deemed to be refused unless and until 
reasons for refusal have been recorded and approved by Members.  The 
reason(s) have to be lawful in planning terms.  Officers will advise specifically 
on the lawfulness or otherwise of reasons and also the implications for the 
Council for possible costs against the Council in the event of an appeal and 
will recommend deferral in the event that there is a danger that the Council 
would be acting unreasonably in refusing the application. 
 
Where the officer recommendation is for “refusal” and Members resolve not to 
accept this recommendation, appropriate conditions should then be debated 
and confirmed by means of a second vote.  For reasons of probity, Member 
should also confirm reasons for approval which should also be lawful in 
planning terms.  Officers will advise accordingly but will recommend deferral if 
more time is required to consider what conditions/obligations are required or if 
he/she considers a site visit should be held.  If the application departs from 
the adopted development plan it (other than a number of policies listed on 
pages 89 and 90 of the Constitution) will need to be reported to Planning 
Committee and this report will include any appropriate conditions/obligations. 
 
The application will not be deemed to be approved unless and until 
suitable conditions have been recorded and confirmed by means of a 
second vote. 
 
Where Members are unable to reach agreement on reasons for refusal or 
appropriate conditions as detailed above, Members should resolve to defer 
the application for further consultation and receipt of appropriate planning and 
legal advice.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

CONTENTS 
 

ITEM APP. NO. SITE LOCATION 
OFFICER 

REC. 

    

1 2014/0615 80 Oxford Street, Swansea, SA1 3JN REFUSE 

  Change of use of ground floor into two self 
contained flats with external alterations 

 

    

2 2014/0745 23 Vincent Street, Swansea, SA1 3TY REFUSE 

  Part first floor, part single storey rear extension  

    

3 2014/0737 14A Brynmill Avenue, Brynmill, Swansea, SA2 0DQ REFUSE 

  Change of use of ground floor garage to a self 
contained flat 

 

    

4 2014/0764 4 Rosehill Terrace Swansea Swansea SA1 6JN APPROVE 

  Change of use from residential (Class C3) to 7 bed 
HMO 

 

    

5 2014/0628 82 The Kingsway, Swansea, SA1 5JE APPROVE 

  Change of use from a bank (Class A2) to 
cafe/takeaway (Class A3) 

 

    

6 2014/0765 Land at Heron Way, Swansea Enterprise Park, Swansea APPROVE 

  Construction of retail unit (Class A1) (amendment to 
planning permission 2013/1616 granted for the 
construction of four retail units (Class A3) with 
associated works)  

 

 

Page 9



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 1   APPLICATION NO. 2014/0615 

  WARD: Castle 

Area 1 

 

Location: 80 Oxford Street, Swansea, SA1 3JN 

Proposal: Change of use of ground floor into two self contained flats with 
external alterations 

Applicant: Mr Darren Waygood 

 
 

PH

10.7m

S
T H

E
LE

N
'S

 R
O

A
D

C
lu
b

11.9m

8.2m

LB

7.6m

OXFORD S
TREET (S

TRYD R
HYDYCHEN)

R
IC

H
A
R

D
S
O

N
 S

T
R

E
E
T

SPR
IN

G
 T

ERR
AC

E

G
a
ra
ge

Tabernacle

A
R

G
Y
L
E
 S

T
R

E
E
T

6.7m

W
ES

TE
R

N
 S

TR
E

E
T

6.1m

7.3m

5.8m

5.8m

3
1

5
4

16

4
6

3
8

5
0

4
5

52

44
1
5

2
2

59

66

10
3

10
9

11
6

90

96

80

87

94

14
4

15
0

100

15
6

16
3

44

50

57

14
2

14
3

14
4

14
8

43

40

37 to 39

36

32

16
4

79

11
7

43

17

22

36

12
4

72

17
8

65
1
7

13
1

1
0

30

23

2
4

64

63

17
8

22
b

2
2

15
0

1
8

1
8
a

1
9

66

1
6
4
a

11.6m

17
2

14
0

80a

80b

1
7
a

66a

43a

14
9

Hotel

 

 

A
R

G
Y
LE

C
O

U
R

T
1 - 

18

 

79A(GF)
79B(79B)

11
6A

NOT TO SCALE 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2014 : 

Ordnance Survey 100023509. 

Page 10



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0615 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
POLICIES 
 

Policy  Policy Description 

Policy AS6 Provision of car parking in accordance with adopted standards. (City & 
County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy EV1 New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good 
design. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 

 

Policy EV2 The siting of new development shall give preference to the use of 
previously developed land and have regard to the physical character 
and topography of the site and its surroundings. (City & County of 
Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 

 

Policy EV3 Proposals for new development and alterations to and change of use of 
existing buildings will be required to meet defined standards of access. 
(City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy HC6 Proposals for the conversion of larger dwellings and vacant or under-
utilised commercial and industrial buildings to flats or similar will be 
permitted subject to a set of defined criteria including the effect upon 
residential amenity; overintensive use of the dwelling or building, effect 
upon the external appearance of the property and the locality; effect on 
local car parking and highway safety; and adequate refuse storage 
arrangements. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 
2008) 

 
SITE HISTORY  
 

App No. Proposal 

2006/1433 Change of use of ground floor flat into two self contained flats and 
external alterations 

Decision:  Grant Permission Conditional 

Decision Date:  13/08/2006 

 

94/1281 CHANGE OF USE OF GROUND FLOOR SHOWROOM (CLASS A1) 
TO 5NO. STUDENT STUDY BEDROOMS WITH COMMUNAL 
FACILITIES (CLASS C3) AND CONVERSION OF FIRST FLOOR 
OFFICES (CLASS B1) TO 1NO. SELF-CONTAINED FLAT 

Decision:  *HGPC - GRANT PERMISSION CONDITIONAL 

Decision Date:  11/01/1995 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 
ONE NEIGHBOURING PROPERTY has been consulted and the proposal was advertised 
on site. NO RESPONSE has been received. 

Page 11



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0615 

 
Highway Observations - Change of use of ground floor into two self contained flats with 
external alterations. 
 
The overall house is currently licensed as a nine bed HMO although there is no planning 
to that effect. The ground floor currently provides five bedrooms so as a result of the 
proposals the dwelling will be spilt into a four bed HMO, and two number two bedroom 
flats.  
 
In terms of parking demand, notwithstanding that there is no parking available the current 
use would require three parking spaces (for a single dwelling of up to six persons). The 
proposed use as two flats (plus the remaining element of the HMO would require seven 
parking spaces and there would also be an impact on residents parking as there is a 
permit holders scheme in operation at the moment which allows two permits per flat. In 
effect this would treble the number of permits issued from two to six. 
 
In the vicinity of the site there are 30 resident permit parking spaces laid out but a total of 
37 have been issued already showing that demand is already outstripping supply.   
 
Whilst there is a net loss of one bedroom the works would result in the formation of three 
separate residential units and overall there would be an increase in parking requirements 
which is felt cannot be satisfactorily accommodated on street without detriment to the 
existing parking provision enjoyed by the residents.  
 
I recommend that the application be refused on the grounds that: 
 
1. The applicant has failed to provide any additional parking provision to cater for the 
increase in requirements in accordance with our adopted parking guidelines. This could 
result in indiscriminate parking to the detriment of the safety of highway users, both 
vehicular and pedestrian.  
 
2. The application would increase the residents parking permits issued to the detriment of 
the effectiveness of the Residents Parking Scheme in operation. 
 
APPRAISAL 
 
This application is reported to committee for decision at the request of Council Sybil 
Crouch to assess highway safety implications and the impact in the street scene. A site 
visit has been requested. 
 
80 Oxford Street is currently in use as two flats, one at first floor (4 bed) and one at ground 
floor (5 bed). It is proposed to change the use of the ground floor into two self contained 
flats, (each with 2 bedrooms)  with external alterations. The external alterations comprise 
the insertion of an additional entrance doorway on the side elevation to provide a separate 
access to the new units and fenestration alterations. 
 
A previous application (ref: 2006/1433) gained consent for the conversion of the ground 
floor of this premises into two self contained flats. That application proposed a one bed flat 
and a two bed flat making a total of 3 bedrooms – a reduction from the original 5 
bedrooms at ground floor level. This application differs from that previously approved as it 
proposes two 2 bedroom flats rather than a one bed and a two bed.  

Page 12



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0615 

 
The principle of three separate units at this location, therefore, has previously been 
considered acceptable. 
 
However, there are other material changes in circumstances since the previous 
application in that the Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008 has been adopted, 
replacing the previous Swansea Local Plan Review No.1 and the Highway Parking 
Standards 2010 has been introduced. Policies EV1, EV2, EV3, AS6 and HC6 of the City 
and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008 are relevant. 
 
It is noted that the submitted plans indicate two separate units at the site i.e. a 5 bed flat at 
ground floor level and a 4 bed at first level. Whilst there is no planning history for such a 
use, council records indicate that the use has been in situ more than 4 years and is 
therefore lawful for the purposes of this assessment. 
 
In terms of visual amenity and the impact of the proposal on the character and 
appearance of the existing dwelling and surrounding area, it is considered that the new 
door would relate satisfactorily to the existing property and is considered visually 
acceptable with no detrimental visual impact upon the character and appearance of the 
surrounding street scene. This element of the scheme reflects that previously approved in 
2006. 
 
Turning to the impact upon residential amenity, whilst the proposal would split the property 
into two separate units at ground floor, the level of accommodation is less than the 
existing accommodation. Currently the ground floor provides 5 bedrooms whilst the 
proposal would split the flat into two 2-bed self contained flats. The upper floor would 
remain as existing i.e. a 4 bed residential unit. It is therefore considered, as previously in 
2006, that the proposal would not result in intensification in the use of the property and as 
such it is not considered that the neighbouring properties would suffer an increase in noise 
and disturbance beyond that currently experienced.      
 
Turning to the impact upon parking and traffic generation, in accordance with our adopted 
parking guidelines the Head of Transportation and Engineering has objected to the 
proposal due to the lack of off-street parking provision to cater for an increase in demand 
as a result of the proposal which in turn would result in highway safety issues in the 
surrounding area. The provision of the additional unit would require 1 additional space.  
No parking is provided. Whilst it is noted that objection is also raised on the impact the 
proposal would have on residents’ parking, it is considered that a condition could have 
been attached to any consent granted preventing future occupiers applying for residents’ 
parking permits. 
 
In conclusion and having regard to all material considerations, including the Human Rights 
Act, it is considered that the proposal results in an unacceptable impact upon the highway 
conditions of the area and therefore fails to comply with the criteria set out in Policies EV1, 
HC6 and AS6 of the City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008. 
Accordingly, refusal is recommended. 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
REFUSE, for the following reason: 

Page 13



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 1 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0615 

 

1 The applicant has failed to provide any additional parking provision to cater for the 
increase in requirements which would in turn result in indiscriminate parking to the 
detriment of the safety of highway users, both vehicular and pedestrian and is 
therefore contrary to the criteria set out in Policies EV1, AS6 and HC6 of the City 
and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008. 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and 

County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were 
relevant to the consideration of the application: Policies EV1, EV2, EV3, AS6 and 
HC6 of the City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008. 

 
PLANS 
 
03.14.800S.D2 site location and block plan, 03.14.800S.D1 existing and proposed floor 
plans and elevations dated 25th April, 2014 
 

 
 

Page 14



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 2  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0745 

  WARD: Castle 
Area 1 

 

Location: 23 Vincent Street, Swansea, SA1 3TY 

Proposal: Part first floor, part single storey rear extension 

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Leigh Thomas 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

B
E
A
C
H

 S
T
R
E
E
T

5.8m

6.1m

5.8m

St Helens Primary School

VINCENT STREET

B
U
R
R
O
W
S

5.5m

R
O
A
D

PH

101

3

5

7

14

22

58

65

66

1
5

2
2

59

66

73

81

57

51

15

20

24

4

12
9

5

1
1

82

83

114

90

96

PH

24

42

Sc
ho

ol

86

70

101

43

74

B
O

N
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

32

36

41

27

77

66

29

62
FLEET STREET

84

92

17

23

28

32

36

76

96

In
fa

n
ts

 S
c
h
o
o
l

10
4

6
.7
m

B
E

A
C

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

P
H

37

44

5
0

C
h
ris

t C
h
u
rc

h

62

74

RODNEY STREET

103

113

123

131

4
9

Nurse M
ews

116GF

 Thorntons Furnishings Ltd 25 Beach Street

 

 

57A
(FF

) 57B
(GF

) 57C
(GF

)

 
 

76
C

76
B

76
A

74
B

NOT TO SCALE 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2014 : 

Ordnance Survey 100023509. 

Page 15



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0745 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
POLICIES 
 

Policy  Policy Description 

Policy EV1 New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good 
design. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 

 

Policy HC7 Proposals for extensions and alterations to existing residential dwellings 
will be assessed in terms of; relationship to the existing dwelling, impact 
on the character and appearance of the streetscene, effect on 
neighbouring properties, and impact on car parking. (City & County of 
Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 
SITE HISTORY  
 

App No. Proposal 

2014/0065 Two storey and single storey rear extension 

Decision:  Refuse 

Decision Date:  12/03/2014 

 

2013/1422 Two storey and single storey rear extentions 

Decision:  Withdrawn 

Decision Date:  10/12/2013 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 
 
FIVE NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES were individually consulted.  No response. 
 
Highway observations - Part first floor, part single storey rear extension. This will 
increase the property from a 2 to a 3 bed. Vincent Street is within close proximity to the 
city centre and within easy walking distance of a school, local amenities and the central 
bus station. There are regular bus services in the area. There is residents’ parking to the 
front. There are no highway objections.   
 
APPRAISAL 
 
This application is called to committee for determination at the request of Councillor Fiona 
Gordon to assess the proposal in relation to the previous refusal on the site. A site visit 
has also been requested. 
 
Planning History 
 
Members will recall that a planning application was submitted at the beginning of this year 
(application reference number 2014/0065 refers) for a two storey and single storey rear 
extension at the property. The proposed first floor rear extension of the proposal conflicted 
with the Supplementary Planning Guidance document entitled “A Design Guide for 
Householder Development” as it projected 6m and the application was refused on the 12th 
March 2014 by Committee following a site visit for the following reasons:  

Page 16



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0745 

 
1. The proposed first floor rear extension, by virtue of its excessive scale and close 

proximity to No. 24 Vincent Street, would have an unacceptable overshadowing 
and overbearing physical impact upon that property, to the detriment of the 
amenities of the occupiers of that property. The proposal is therefore contrary to the 
requirements of Policies EV1 and HC7 of the adopted City & County of Swansea 
Unitary Development Plan (2008); and the Supplementary Planning Guidance 
document `A Design Guide for Householder Development' (2008). 

 
2. The proposed extension by virtue of its excessive scale and massing would 

dominate the existing dwelling and therefore detract from its character and 
appearance and that of the surrounding area contrary to Policies EV1 and HC7 of 
the City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan (2008) and the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance document `A Design Guide for Householder 
Development' (2008). 

 
A previous planning application for a similar development was submitted at the end of last 
year, (application reference number 2013/1422 refers). That application was withdrawn 
following officer concerns in relation to the proposed first floor rear extension’s impact 
upon residential amenity.    
 
Main Issues 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the construction of a part first floor, part single 
storey extension at the rear of No. 23 Vincent Street, Swansea.  It has common 
boundaries with No. 22 to the east, No. 24 to the west and No’s 79 and 80 Fleet Street to 
the south. The existing single storey rear extension to this mid-terrace property is to be 
replaced with a cavity wall constructed extension expanding the full width of the rear 
elevation of the dwelling with a rearward projection of 6.5m finished with a flat roof 
measuring 3m in height. The proposed two storey rear extension would have a width of 
3.35m and would project 5m from the main rear elevation of the dwelling. The proposed 
ridge height of this element is to be 6.5m. The length of the proposed first floor rear 
extension has been reduced by 1 metre since the previous refusal. 
 
The main issues for consideration with regard to this application relates to the impact of 
the proposal upon visual and residential amenities in respect of Policies HC7 and EV1 of 
the City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008 and the Supplementary 
Planning Guidance document entitled A Design Guide for Householder Development.  
There are in this case considered to be no additional issues arising from the provisions of 
the Human Rights Act. 
 
In relation to the current proposal, the proposed single storey rear extension would be 
finished with a flat roof whereas the two storey pitched roof would be finished with 
concrete tiles to match the existing roof. External elevations are to be finished in render to 
match the main dwelling. In terms of visual amenity, therefore, the pitched roof and flat 
roof design and the siting of the proposed extensions are considered to relate 
satisfactorily to the application property.  It is considered that the reduction in the length of 
the extension has reduced the massing of the building and overcomes the adverse visual 
impact the previously proposed scheme had on the property and surrounding streetscene. 
 

Page 17



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0745 

 
With regard to residential amenity, the proposed depth of the ground floor extension would 
comply with the Supplementary Planning Guidance document entitled “A Design Guide for 
Householder Development” as it would only project 6.5m and is not therefore considered 
to create a significant impact on neighbouring properties in terms of 
overshadowing/overbearing impacts. However, the first floor element of the proposal 
would result in the first floor extension clearly conflicting with the guidance provided at 
Section 3 of the Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) document `A Design Guide for 
Householder Development' (2008) which states that two storey rear  extensions on 
terraced properties should project no more than 4 metres. The SPG states that where the 
neighbouring properties on both sides of a house have already been extended beyond this 
distance, an extension may be allowed to the same length. It should be noted that in this 
instance both adjoining neighbouring properties benefit from first floor rear extensions that 
only project approximately 4m in length.  
 
Despite this identified conflict with the guidance in `A Design Guide for Householder 
Development', it is considered that the proposed first floor extension would not result in an 
unacceptable overshadowing and overbearing impact upon the neighbouring property at 
No. 22 Vincent Street to the east, as that property has a first floor bathroom window in its 
rear elevation and the windows at ground floor are in line with the rear extension at the 
application site.  
 
However, windows in the main rear elevation at No. 24 to the west would be adversely 
affected in terms of the overshadowing and overbearing impact from the proposed first 
floor rear extension due to their position and orientation in relation to the proposal. It is 
considered therefore that this will have an unacceptable impact on the residential amenity 
of occupiers of that property.  With regard to privacy issues, the proposed rear windows 
would directly overlook the applicant’s amenity space and therefore are not considered to 
result in a loss of privacy impact on the adjoining neighbouring properties. The proposal is 
not considered to result in any unacceptable impact upon the residential amenities of 
neighbouring proprieties to the rear of the site, No’s 79 and 80 Fleet Street to the south 
due to the adequate separation distances. 
 
Members should note that an application for a ground and first floor rear extension at No. 
25 Vincent Street nearby (2005/0026 refers) was approved April 2005, with a depth of 
approximately 4.8 metres, It was considered that this depth was acceptable as there were 
no habitable room windows on the first floor rear elevation at No.26 Vincent Street. In 
addition the extension was not considered to have a detrimental impact on neighbouring 
amenities.  However, it appears that the first floor part of that extension has not been built 
in accordance with the approved plans (being longer than approved). Due to the length of 
time since completion the extension is now immune from enforcement action. In the given 
circumstances, it is not considered that any precedent has been set in the vicinity for first 
floor rear extensions in excess of the stated guidelines. Whilst it is noted that there may be 
other examples of long first floor extensions in the street, a search of the history of these 
properties indicates that if planning permission was granted for the extensions, these were 
prior to the adoption of the Supplementary Planning Guidance document entitled  “A 
Design Guide for Householder Development “(2008).  
 
Notwithstanding the above, it has been previously suggested that there may be personal 
circumstances which are behind the need for the proposed extension. However the 
applicants have not submitted any evidence in support of such issues. In any event, 
paragraph 3.1.6 from Planning Policy Wales (Nov 2012) states that: Page 18



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 2 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0745 

 
“Unless otherwise specified, a planning permission runs with the land and it is seldom 
desirable to provide for any other arrangement. Exceptionally, even though such 
considerations will rarely outweigh the more general planning considerations, the 
personal circumstances of occupiers, personal hardship or the difficulties of businesses 
which are of value to the local community, may be material to the consideration of a 
planning application. In such circumstances, permission may be granted subject to a 
condition that it is personal to the applicant. Authorities should bear in mind that personal 
permissions will hardly ever be justified for works or uses that will remain long after the 
personal circumstances of the applicant have changed”. 
 
The Head of Transportation & Engineering Services recommends that no highway 
objections are raised to the proposal.   
 
In conclusion and having regard to all material planning considerations, including the 
Human Rights Act, the proposal is considered to represent an unacceptable form of 
development, conflicting with the criteria of Policies EV1 and HC7 of the adopted City & 
County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan (2008) and the guidance contained in the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance document `A Design Guide for Householder 
Development' (2008). 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
REFUSE, for the following reason: 
 

1 The proposed first floor extension rear extension, by virtue of its excessive scale 
and close proximity to No. 24 Vincent Street, would have an unacceptable 
overshadowing and overbearing physical impact upon that property, to the 
detriment of the residential amenities of the occupiers of that property. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to the requirements of Policies EV1 and HC7 of the 
adopted City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan (2008); and the 
Supplementary Planning Guidance document `A Design Guide for Householder 
Development' (2008). 

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and 

County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were 
relevant to the consideration of the application: Policies EV1 and HC7 of the City 
and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan (2008) and the Supplementary 
Planning Guidance document `A Design Guide for Householder Development' 
(2008). 

 
PLANS 
 
Site location plan, 214 553 01A existing  and proposed floor plans, elevations and block 
plan dated 19th May, 2014 
 

 

Page 19



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 3  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0737 

  WARD: Uplands 
Area 1 

 

Location: 14A Brynmill Avenue, Brynmill, Swansea, SA2 0DQ 

Proposal: Change of use of ground floor garage to a self contained flat 

Applicant: Mr A K Latif 

 
 

66

1
1

1
5

7
6

3
21

9

A
L
E

X
A
N

D
R

A
 T

E
R

R
A

C
E

2
2

WATERLOO PLACE

PH

1
1
4

B
R
Y
N
M
IL
L

1

3

A
V
E
N
U
E

1
0
4

9
2

8
2

1
2

D
E

-B
R

E
O

S
 S

T
R

E
E

T

M
A
R

L
B

O
R

O
U

G
H

 R
O

A
D

Brynmill P
rim

ary

1

21

9

2

4
5

1
3

6

26

9

1

43

PARK PLACE

38.7m

7
0

1a

El

1
2

7

35.4m

44

Sub Sta

7

K
E

M
B

L
E

 S
T
R

E
E
T

1
4

42

1a

14

36

20

25

31

1
1
0
a

1
1
0
b

7

1
8

3

67

1

4
0

2
0

1
6

15

36.6m

1

13

2
3

School

12

6
0

3
3

17

1
1
0

31.7m

31.7m

5
0

38

1

1
0

46

29

5

45

24.4m

17

6
7
a

 
12
A

12
B

 
13
A

13
B

 
14
A

14
B

 
11
A

11
B

 
15
A

15
B

1
1
4
A

NOT TO SCALE 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2014 : 

Ordnance Survey 100023509. 

Page 20



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0737 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
POLICIES 
 

Policy  Policy Description 

Policy EV1 New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good 
design. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 

 

Policy AS6 Provision of car parking in accordance with adopted standards. (City & 
County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 
SITE HISTORY  
 

App No. Proposal 

2009/0869 Change of use of first floor from private garage/store to self contained 
flat 

Decision:  Refuse 

Decision Date:  28/10/2009 

 

97/1814 Change of use from residential garage to retail use (Class A1), 
alterations to front elevation, formation of access and erection of 
entrance gates 

Decision:  Appeal Dismissed 

Decision Date:  19/11/1998 

 

2006/2418 Change of use from private garage to retail (Class A1) on ground floor 
with shop front and new access gates to existing side yard 

Decision:  Refuse 

Decision Date:  14/12/2006 

 

2009/0371 Change of use of first floor from private garage/store to self contained 
flat  

Decision:  Refuse 

Decision Date:  24/04/2009 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 
 
The occupiers of three neighbouring were consulted and the proposal was advertised on 
site. NO RESPONSE.   
 
Highways - The application is for the change of use of a ground floor garage to residential 
as a self contained flat. 
 
Parking in the area is in extremely high demand and whilst the access statement makes 
reference to the sustainable nature of the site the fact of the matter is that this is an 
existing parking facility that will be lost, in addition to creating a new residential unit that 
does not have any parking associated with it, thus it is considered materially different than 
the conversion of the first floor store to residential that was consented on appeal. 

Page 21



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0737 

 
The size of the flat would require 1 parking space in accordance with our SPG standards, 
none are being provided and in addition the loss of the garage means that overall there 
are two spaces short. 
 
The shortfall in the parking provision would increase the on street parking to the detriment 
of the existing residents and visitors, and as the residents of the new flat would also be 
eligible to apply for 2 parking permits this would again place increased pressure on the 
resident parking bays. 
 
I recommend that this application be refused on the grounds that: 
 
1. The applicant has failed to provide adequate off street parking to the detriment of the 

existing residents and the current on street parking facilities.  
2. The loss of the garage as a parking space would be detrimental to the on street 

parking availability and could impact on highway safety by virtue of indiscriminate 
parking occurring arising from the shortage of on street spaces. 

 
Pollution Control – No comments 
 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) – No comments 
 
APPRAISAL  
 
This application is reported to Area 1 Development Control Committee for determination at 
the request of Councillor John Bayliss to allow members to consider the impact on the 
local area. A site visit has also been requested.  
 
Description 
Full planning permission is sought of the change of use of the ground floor from a 
garage/store to a self contained flat. The accommodation will comprise one bedroom, 
living room/kitchen and bathroom. Access to the proposed ground floor flat will be directly 
from the street into the living room/kitchen. The application building is  two storey with the 
ground floor being a garage/store and the first floor currently in residential use, planning 
application 2009/0869 granted on Appeal (ref: APP/B6855/A/10/2122880). No.14 Brynmill 
Avenue is also within the ownership of the applicant and the application site has been 
fenced off from the rear of No.14. The application building is surrounded by terraced 
houses on Waterloo Place, Park Place, Brynmill Avenue, Marlborough Road and 
Alexandra Terrace. The garage is located at a point where these roads converge on a 
steep hill and bend. 
 
Background Planning History  
In respect of the planning history of the application site, there have been previous refusals 
of planning permission for the change of use of the garage to a two storey dwelling and a 
subsequent appeal was dismissed (p84/1798 refers).  
 
Planning permission was also refused (97/1814 refers) and was subsequently dismissed 
at appeal for a change of use from residential garage to retail use (Class A1), alterations 
to front elevation, formation of access and erection of entrance gates at the rear of 14 
Brynmill Avenue, Brynmill. 

Page 22



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0737 

 
A further application for the change of use from private garage to retail on the ground floor 
with shop front and new access gates to existing side yard on the same application site, 
was refused on 14th December 2006 (2006/2418 refers).   
 
A subsequent application was refused for the change of use of the first floor of the garage 
to a two-bed self contained flat (ref: 2009/0371).  
 
There has also been a history of enforcement action relating to the use of this building.  
The garage originally only had an established use as a garage/stores as an integral part of 
14 Brynmill Avenue. An Enforcement Notice ref ENF/95/90 was served against the use of 
the Land and Buildings to the rear of 14 Brynmill Avenue, Brynmill from a garage/store to 
first floor residential accommodation/ground floor garage on 19th September 1995 for the 
following reason: 
 
‘The proposed development is considered to represent an undesirable form of 
development which would be detrimental to the residential amenity of the occupiers of the 
neighbouring properties by reason of loss of privacy, noise, increased activity and general 
disturbance’. 
 
A subsequent appeal against the enforcement notice was dismissed. The Appeal 
Inspector notedC ‘It seems to me that there is the intention to establish a separate flat on 
the appeal site. Such separation, in my opinion, would lead to an unacceptable 
intensification of residential use on a very confined site, with very little private amenity 
space, in a locality where residential use is already of high density.  In my opinion this 
would generate increased domestic activity on the site, so close to together houses, which 
would be seriously harmful to the residential amenity of neighbours.  This would be 
especially acute for the present or future occupants of Nos. 14 Brynmill Avenue and 36 
Park Place who are the nearest neighbours’.  
 
The requirements of the notice are to reinstate the building to a private garage/store and 
to  

(i) Remove all kitchen and bathroom furniture and fittings; and 
(ii) Remove all ancillary domestic furniture from the living area and bedrooms, 

to ensure that the first floor is not capable of habitation.  
 
Planning application 2009/0869 
The most recent planning history relates to application reference: 2009/0869 for internal 
and external alterations to create a one-bedroom flat at first floor level. This application 
was allowed on appeal Ref: APP/B6855/A/10/2121880 dated 06/05/10.  In granting the 
appeal the Inspector considered that the proposal would not give rise to noise and 
disturbance damaging to the living conditions of neighbouring residents, to unsatisfactory 
living conditions for future residents of the appeal property, or to unacceptable pressure 
on local parking conditions. He also stated ‘I consider it is important that the flat is not 
occupied until all of the internal reorganisation and blocking up of windows has been 
carried out in accordance with an agreed timetable; this is especially important given the 
appellant’s apparent disregard of the previous enforcement notice over the past 14 years. 
I have there imposed an appropriate condition’ 
 

Page 23



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0737 

 
Condition 2 of appeal decision:  
The first floor of the building shall not be occupied for residential purposes until the 
existing windows have been blocked up and all the works shown on drawings 29/035/D 
and 28/035/C have been completed in accordance with a timetable which has first been 
submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. The development shall be 
carried out strictly in accordance with the approved details.  
 
This condition has not been discharged. 
 
A site visit was carried out in respect of this current application and it was noted that a 
letting agency board was advertising a 2 bed flat (sign to the first floor) and a let had been 
agreed for the first floor of the application building.  A trawl of the letting agency web page 
confirmed that the 1st floor (advertised as 14B Brynmill Avenue with a photograph of this 
exact property) was for rent at £550 per month with 2 bedrooms, 1 reception and 1 
bathroom. This matter has been reported to the Authority’s Planning Enforcement Section 
for further investigation. 
 
ISSUES 
The main issues for consideration in this instance relate to the impact of the proposal 
upon residential amenity, the character of the area and the impact upon existing highway 
conditions having regard to policies EV1 and AS6 of the Unitary Development Plan.  
There are in this instance no additional overriding issues for consideration under the 
provisions of the Human Rights Act. 
 
Visual Amenity 
It is not considered that the proposed external alterations would have any significant 
detrimental visual impact upon the character and appearance of the building to which it 
relates, nor the wider street scene. 
 
Residential Amenity 
This current application seeks to obtain planning permission to use the ground floor as a 
residential unit.  In terms of residential amenity, the first floor of the building has planning 
permission for a one bedroom residential unit granted on appeal (Ref:2009/0869). 
However, as stated in the preceding paragraphs, the first floor flat is being advertised for 
rent as a 2 bed flat.  
 
In terms of noise and disturbance it is not considered that the residential use of the ground 
floor as a residential one bed flat would give rise to any significant noise or disturbance 
over and above that associated with the use as a garage that would be so harmful to 
warrant a recommendation of refusal.  There are three new windows proposed at ground 
floor level to serve the living room/kitchen, the bedroom and the bathroom, in the side 
elevation which face inwards to the enclosed yard area.  Access to the first floor flat is 
gained from the yard area, and this space will be a shared space for refuse/amenity for 
use by both the first and ground floor residents.  The proposed floor plan does show 
double doors opening into the yard area but the proposed elevations show a single door 
and wall.  This is also the situation of site and there is no means of vehicular access into 
the enclosed yard. Having regard to the residential amenity of future occupiers, the living 
room window and the bedroom window will be located on ground floor level facing directly 
into the yard. There is the potential for noise and disturbance from the occupiers of the 
first floor residential accommodation using the yard as their main access/egress route but 
this situation is not unusual with flats sharing an amenity area.  Page 24



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 
 

ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0737 

 
Additionally, given the context of the surrounding area, many of the terrace properties 
have living accommodation directly on the pavement/footway.  On balance, it is not 
considered that there would be any harmful detriment to the residential amenity of the 
future occupiers of the ground floor flat from noise and disturbance from comings and 
going that would warrant a recommendation of refusal.  In terms of overlooking/loss of 
privacy impact the proposed fenestration alterations are to the ground floor and either face 
the street or the enclosed yard area. On this basis, it is not considered that there would be 
any detrimental impact in respect of loss of privacy or overlooking.  
 
Highway Safety 
The Head of Transportation and Engineering has been consulted on this proposal and has 
noted that parking in the area is in extremely high demand. Whilst the access statement 
makes reference to the sustainable nature of the site, an existing parking facility will be 
lost in order to facilitate the development, and would result in the creation of a new 
residential unit that does not have any parking associated with it. Thus it is considered 
materially different to the conversion of the first floor store to a one bedroom flat that was 
granted permission on appeal. 
 
The size of the flat would require 1 parking space in accordance with the Authority’s 
adopted supplementary planning guidance relating to parking guidelines (adopted March 
2012). No off street parking is being provided and in addition the loss of the garage means 
that overall there will be a shortfall of two off street parking spaces.  
 
The shortfall in the parking provision would increase the on street parking demand to the 
detriment of the existing residents and visitors, and as the residents of the new flat would 
also be eligible to apply for 2 parking permits this would again place increased pressure 
on the resident parking bays. 
 
The Head of Transportation and Engineering recommends that this application is refused 
on the grounds that the applicant has failed to provide adequate off street parking to the 
detriment of the existing residents and the current on street parking facilities. Furthermore, 
the loss of the garage as a parking space would be detrimental to the on street parking 
availability and has the potential to impact on highway safety by virtue of indiscriminate 
parking arising from the shortage of on street spaces. 
 
Conclusion    
In conclusion, having regard to all material considerations including the Human Rights Act, 
the proposal fails to provide adequate off street car parking within the curtilage of the site 
to the detriment of the existing residents and the current on street parking facilities. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to Policies EV1 and AS6 of the Unitary Development Plan 
and Supplementary Planning Guidance – Parking Standards (March 2012).  Refusal is 
therefore recommended. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
REFUSE, for the following reason: 

Page 25



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 3 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0737 

 

1 The applicant has failed to provide adequate off street parking to serve the 
proposed development which will put pressure on the existing on-street parking 
available to existing residents within the area. The proposal is therefore 
detrimental to highway safety, contrary to Policies EV1 and AS6 of the City and 
County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008  

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and 

County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were 
relevant to the consideration of the application: EV1 and AS6. Supplementary 
Planning Guidance - Parking Standards, March 2012. 

 
PLANS 
 
Site location plan, block plan, existing & proposed floor plans & elevations dated 15th May 
2014 
 

 

Page 26



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 4  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0764 

  WARD: Uplands 
Area 1 

 

Location: 4 Rosehill Terrace Swansea Swansea SA1 6JN 

Proposal: Change of use from residential (Class C3) to 7 bed HMO 

Applicant: Ms N Griffiths 

 
 

66.1m

3

211

4

24

21

13

2

18

13

1

7

18

1

191

108

13

8

1

7

94

13

16

84

209

79.6m

PENMAEN TERRACE

ROSEHILL TERRACE

203

19

7

1
2

3
8

LB

8

R
H
IA

N
F
A
 G

A
R
D
E
N
S

1

Rho
synf

a

1
6

FS

SD

4

3
6

1
4

110
112

R
O

S
E

 H
IL

L

1

Mansion House

R
H

IA
N

F
A

 L
A

N
E

R
O

S
E

 H
IL

L

2

134

51.2m

1

NOT TO SCALE 
© Crown Copyright and database right 
2014 : Ordnance Survey 100023509. 

Page 27



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 4 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0764 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
POLICIES 
 

Policy  Policy Description 

Policy AS6 Provision of car parking in accordance with adopted standards. (City & 
County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy EV1 New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good 
design. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 

 

Policy HC5 Proposals for the conversion of dwelling or non-residential properties to 
HMO's will be permitted subject to a set of defined criteria including the 
effect upon residential amenity; harmful concentration or intensification 
of HMO's in an area, effect upon the external appearance of the 
property and the locality; effect on local car parking and highway safety; 
and adequate refuse storage arrangements. (City & County of Swansea 
Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 
SITE HISTORY  
 

App No. Proposal 

2014/0276 Use of the dwelling for up to 6 residents (application for a Certificate of 
Proposed Lawful Development) 

Decision:  Is Lawful 

Decision Date:  06/05/2014 

 

2014/0277 Conversion of detached garage for use as a residential annexe ancillary 
to the host dwelling (application for a Certificate of Proposed Lawful 
Development). 

Decision:  Is Lawful 

Decision Date:  29/05/2014 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 
 
ELEVEN NEIGHBOURING properties were consulted and the proposal was advertised on 
site. ONE LETTER OF OBJECTION (sent in twice by the same correspondent) has been 
received which is summarised as follows: 
 

1) HMOs are detrimental to the area 
2) Waste is a problem from HMOs 
3) Parking issues for 7 extra people 

 
Highway Observations - Amended plans have been received which detail that the 
existing rear garage is to be re-configured to allow for two parking spaces to be provided. 
The spaces are tandem but as this is still a single dwelling (albeit a HMO) then this is 
acceptable. 

Page 28



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 4 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0764 

 
One additional bedroom is being provided and as there is one additional parking space 
being provided within the curtilage then this should mitigate for the impact of the additional 
person.  
 
The site is well located in terms of local amenities and public transport provision.  
 
As there is no separate unit of accommodation being created then there won't be any 
additional residents permits issued, the house as a single dwelling will remain eligible for 
two parking permits as is currently the case 
 
I recommend no highway objections are raised to the proposal subject to the parking area 
being laid out in accordance with the approved plans, and maintained for parking 
purposes only in perpetuity prior to beneficial occupation of the seven bed HMO. 
 
APPRAISAL 
 
This application is reported to committee for decision at the request of Councillor Nick 
Davies to assess public concern and highway safety. A site visit has been requested. 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the change of use of 4 Rosehill Terrace from 
residential (Class C3) to a 7 bedroom HMO. The application property is a large end of 
terrace property. The area has many properties in multiple occupancy. 
 
The main issues for consideration with regard to this application relate to the acceptability 
of the proposed use and external alterations, having regard to Policies AS6, EV1 and HC5 
of the City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008. There are in this case 
considered to be no additional overriding considerations arising from the provisions of the 
Human Rights Act.  
 
Policy HC5 states that proposals for conversion of properties into multiple occupancy will 
only be permitted where there is no significant adverse affect in terms of the following:   
 
1. Impact on residential amenity 
2. Intensity of use 
3. Off-street parking provision  
4. Traffic generation  
5. Refuse storage arrangements 
6. Sound insulation  
7. The effect on the external appearance of the property and the character and 

appearance of the area. 
 
Policy EV1 is a more general policy and requires development to have regard to the 
amenities of the surrounding area with particular reference to visual impact, loss of light or 
privacy, increased activity and traffic movements or parking problems.  
 
In terms of visual amenity, the only alterations relate to the removal of the garage door to 
the rear elevation of the garage to the rear and the additional removal of part of the rear 
elevation of the garage to allow for a wider access to achieve two off-street parking 
spaces. The remainder of the house will remain unaltered.  

Page 29



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 4 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0764 

 
It is considered that the use of the premises as a 7 bed HMO would have no impact upon 
the character and appearance of the host building or wider surrounding area and the 
alterations to the rear of the garage are considered negligible in terms of their impact to 
the character of the wider surrounding area. 
 
Turning now to residential amenity, the submitted floor plans demonstrate that the 
accommodation is capable of providing 7 bedrooms with a sufficient spaces for refuse and 
cycle storage. Furthermore it is considered that the use of the property as a 7 bed HMO  
would not result in an unacceptable increase in the intensity of the use of the property in 
movements in and out of the building, or result in an unacceptable increase in noise and 
general disturbance to the residents within the neighbouring properties to the detriment of 
their residential amenities that could justify a refusal on these grounds.  
 
It is therefore considered that the use of the property as a 7 bed HMO would not result in 
an adverse impact upon the residential amenities of the occupiers of neighbouring 
properties. 
 
In terms of highway safety, the Head of Transportation and Engineering raises no 
objection to the scheme for the reasons given previously. 
 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 
 
With regard to the points made in the letters of objection, point one relates to the general 
area and the number of HMOs present. There are no policies in the UDP that seek to 
restrict the number of HMOs in the area. In terms of waste, it is not considered that a 7 
bed HMO would generate significantly more waste than would be generated from the 
lawful use of the property. With regard to point 3, an additional 7 people is not correct. The 
lawful use of the application site is a dwelling which can be occupied by a family or up to 
six people living together as a family. The proposal seeks to increase the number of 
bedrooms to 7. 
 
In conclusion, therefore, and having regard to all material planning considerations 
including the Human Rights Act, the proposal is considered to represent an acceptable 
form of development having particular regard to the criteria set out in Policies HC5, EV1 
and AS6 of the City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008. Accordingly, 
approval is recommended. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
APPROVE, subject to the following conditions: 
 

1 The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than five years from the 
date of this decision. 

 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990.  

 

2 Prior to the beneficial occupation of the development, the parking layout shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved plans and retained as such at all 
times. 

 Reason: In the interest of highway safety.  Page 30



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 4 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0764 

 

3 Prior to the use hereby approved commencing, bin-stores (including re-cycling 
bins) shall be provided within the curtilage of the site, details of which shall be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing before the 
development commences. The bin stores shall be retained for such purposes at all 
times. 

 Reason: To ensure adequate facilities are provided in the interests of the visual 
amenity of the locality and the residential amenities of future occupiers.  

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 This consent is issued without prejudice to any other consents or easements that 

may be required in connection with the proposed development. 
 
2 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and 

County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were 
relevant to the consideration of the application: Policies EV1, AS6 and HC5 of the 
City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008. 

 
PLANS 
 
10.96/01 site location and existing plans, 10.96/03 proposed plans dated 28th May 2014 
 

 

Page 31



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 5  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0628 

  WARD: Castle 
Area 1 

 

Location: 82 The Kingsway, Swansea, SA1 5JE 

Proposal: Change of use from a bank (Class A2) to cafe/takeaway (Class A3) 

Applicant: Mr Erdal Boyraz 

 
 

9

39

3

El

TCB

23
1

A
rc
a
d
e

1

79

2

20
8

22
7

83

82

40

PH

1
7

D
IL

L
W

Y
N

 S
T
R

E
E

T

21
8

1
5

1
0

21
2

PIC
TON LANE

W
a
lk

PH

2

21
7

1
6

2

2
3

29

2

235 to
 237

80

20
3

Sub Sta

29

21
9

Car Park

86

1

1
1

1
4

22
0

Car Park

34

5
2
a

2
34

5
2

8

1

2
0

P
ic
to
n

PH

S
h
o
p
p
e
r's

OXFORD STREET/STRYD R
HYDYCHEN

1
5
 t
o
 1

9

85

23

24

D
W

9

26

PC

1
 to

 2
9

PC

House

70

13

NO
R
TH

AM
PT

O
N

7

C
H

R
IS

T
IN

A
 S

T
R

E
E

T

8 to
 1

1

G
a
ra
g
e

Ch
am

be
rs

11.6m

LA
N
E

12

Bank

N
E
W

T
O

N
 S

T
R
E
E
T

27Multistorey Car Park

Co
rnh

ill

69a

El S
ub Sta

2

69

71 to 73

17.7m

14.3m

Regency

NORTHAMPTON LANE

2

31

5
0

5
2
b

posts

22
8

2
3

0

31

32a

33

TCB

12

18

1
2

TCB

84

33

to

36

38

3
a

3
b

3
c

4
a

4
b

4
c

39
A

 

The Counting Ho (gf)
flat (1

st &2nd fl)

NOT TO SCALE 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2014 : 

Ordnance Survey 100023509. 

Page 32



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 5 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0628 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
POLICIES 
 

Policy  Policy Description 

Policy AS6 Provision of car parking in accordance with adopted standards. (City & 
County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy ECNR Proposals for non retail uses at ground floor level within shopping 
centres will be assessed against defined criteria, including their 
relationship to other existing or approved non retail uses; their effect 
upon the primary retail function of the centre; the proposed shop front 
and window display; the time the unit has been marketed for A1 uses, 
and its likelihood of continuing to be vacant; its location in relation to the 
primary shopping area; and its impact upon the vitality, viability and 
attractiveness of the centre. (City & County of Swansea Unitary 
Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy EV1 New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good 
design. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 

 

Policy EV40 Development proposals will not be permitted that would cause or result 
in significant harm to health, local amenity, natural heritage, the historic 
environment or landscape character because of significant levels of air, 
noise or light pollution. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development 
Plan 2008) 

 
SITE HISTORY  
 

App No. Proposal 

2002/1467 Three internally illuminated fascia signs, two internally illuminated 
double sided projecting signs, two non-illuminated information signs, 
one internally illuminated button sign above ATM and one main ATM 
lightbox 

Decision:  Grant Advertisement Consent (C) 

Decision Date:  11/10/2002 

 

A01/0070 RETENTION OF A 0.6 METRE SATELLITE DISH ON REAR 
ELEVATION 

Decision:  *HGPCU - GRANT PERMISSION UNCONDITIONAL 

Decision Date:  16/03/2001 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 
 
ONE NEIGHBOURING PROPERTY was consulted. NO RESPONSE has been received. 
 
Highway Observations - The site is located within the city centre core and as such there 
is no differential between parking requirements for the A2 or A3 uses. There is an access 
to the side of the unit which will be used for servicing/deliveries as is currently the case. 

Page 33



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 5 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0628 

 
I do not consider that there are any highway safety issues arising from the proposed 
change of use. 
 
I recommend that no highway objections are raised to the proposal. 
 
Pollution Control 
 
No objections subject to conditions requiring details of ventilation/extraction system and 
condensing units. 
 
APPRAISAL 
 
This application is reported to committee for decision at the request of Councillor David 
Philips to assess the impact on the surrounding area. 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the change of use of 82 The Kingsway, Swansea 
from a bank (A2) to a hot food takeaway (A3 Food and Drink). The site was last used as 
Nat West bank. Whilst fronting onto The Kingsway, the side elevation of the property is 
within Picton Arcade. 
 
The area contains a wide range of uses including A1, A2, A3, C3. The Kingsway is a mix-
use destination with several A3 units along its length. Policy ECNR sets out criteria for the 
acceptability of non-retail uses at ground floor level within shopping centres. In this 
instance the existing use is A2 and therefore there is no retail use at this site. In this 
respect it is not considered that an A3 use at this location would present any issue in 
terms of the implications of Policy ECNR. It is therefore considered, in light of the above, 
that the use of the ground floor as A3 would be acceptable in principle. 
 
In terms of visual amenity, the only external alteration would be the installation of 
ventilation/extraction system which may be required in connection with the use.  It is likely 
this will be sited on the side elevation of the building and therefore would not be in a highly 
prominent location. Details relating to the design and appearance of the vent can be 
controlled via condition to ensure a visually acceptable installation.  Subject to this, it is 
considered that the proposal would have no adverse visual impact upon the character and 
appearance of the host building nor would it have any impact upon the wider surrounding 
area and would therefore be in accordance with the criteria set out in Policy EV1 of the 
City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008. 
 
With regard to residential amenity, the unit is located on The Kingsway and is in close 
proximity to similar uses and other late night uses such as nightclubs etc. Whilst there are 
residential flats on upper floors in building in the vicinity and also an approved scheme for 
29 units above the Potters Wheel (work yet to have commenced) (ref: 2013/1579) these 
are considered to be of sufficient distance away to ensure that the proposal, in light of 
other surrounding uses would not result in a significant adverse impact upon the occupiers 
of these properties over and above that currently experienced due to the existing uses in 
the vicinity. It this respect it is not considered that the proposed use would warrant a 
refusal on the grounds of an unacceptable increase in general noise and disturbance.  It is 
proposed to open the premises 08.00 – 03.00 Monday to Thursday, 08.00 – 05.00 Friday 
and Saturday and 08.00 – 01.00 on Sundays and Bank Holidays. In view of the site’s 
location, it is not considered necessary to restrict the opening hours.  

Page 34



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 5 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0628 

 
Furthermore the Head of Pollution Control has raised no objection to the scheme subject 
to conditions relating to the extractor system to be installed on site. 
 
No highway objections have been raised to the proposal. 
 
In conclusion and having regard to all material considerations including the Human Rights 
Act, the proposal is considered to represent an acceptable form of development having 
particular regard to Policies EV1, ECNR, AS6 and EV40 of the City and County of 
Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
APPROVE subject to the following conditions: 
 

1 The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than five years from the 
date of this decision. 

 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990.  

 

2 The use hereby permitted shall not commence until a scheme of ventilation and 
fume extraction, including full details of the equipment to be installed for that 
purpose, has first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The approved scheme shall be fully installed prior to its use being 
commenced. 

 Reason: In the interest of amenity.  

 

3 No development shall take place until a scheme, which specifies the provisions to 
be made for any externally mounted condensing units has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. Such works that form part of the 
approved scheme shall be completed before the premises are occupied. 

 Reason: In the interest of amenity.  

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 This consent is issued without prejudice to any other consents or easements that 

may be required in connection with the proposed development. 
 
2 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and 

County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were 
relevant to the consideration of the application: Policies EV1, AS6, EV40 and 
ECNR of the City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008. 

 
PLANS 
 
Site location plan, existing floor plan, proposed floor plan dated 28th April 2014 
 

 

Page 35



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

  WARD: Llansamlet 
Area 1 

 

Location: Land at Heron Way, Swansea Enterprise Park, Swansea 

Proposal: Construction of retail unit (Class A1) (amendment to planning 
permission 2013/1616 granted for the construction of four retail units 
(Class A3) with associated works)  

Applicant: Actoris Commercial Limited 

 

 
 

HERON WAY

WB
U

P
P

E
R

 F
F

O
R

E
S

T
 W

A
Y

P
a
th

(PH)

Hotel

1

2

3

ESS

NOT TO SCALE 
© Crown Copyright and database right 2014 : 

Ordnance Survey 100023509. 

Page 36



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
POLICIES 
 

Policy  Policy Description 

Policy AS2 Accessibility - Criteria for assessing design and layout of new 
development. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 
2008) 

 

Policy AS6 Provision of car parking in accordance with adopted standards. (City & 
County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy EV1 New development shall accord with a defined set of criteria of good 
design. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 

 

Policy EV2 The siting of new development shall give preference to the use of 
previously developed land and have regard to the physical character 
and topography of the site and its surroundings. (City & County of 
Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008). 

 

Policy EV3 Proposals for new development and alterations to and change of use of 
existing buildings will be required to meet defined standards of access. 
(City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy EV36 New development, where considered appropriate, within flood risk areas 
will only be permitted where developers can demonstrate to the 
satisfaction of the Council that its location is justified and the 
consequences associated with flooding are acceptable. (City & County 
of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy EC3 Improvement and enhancement of the established industrial and 
commercial areas will be encouraged where appropriate through 
building enhancement, environmental improvement, infrastructure 
works, development opportunities and targeted business support. (City 
& County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy EC4 All new retail development will be assessed against need and other 
specific criteria. (City & County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 
2008) 

 

Policy EC7 Within the Enterprise Park, proposals for retail development outside the 
retail zone will not be permitted. (City & County of Swansea Unitary 
Development Plan 2008) 

 

Policy EC9 Retail development at out of centre locations will be restricted. (City & 
County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008) 

 

Page 37



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

 
SITE HISTORY  
 

App No. Proposal 

2013/1616 Construction of four retail units (Class A3) with car parking and 
associated works 

Decision:  Perm Subj to S106 Agree 

Decision Date:  06/05/2014 

 
RESPONSE TO CONSULTATIONS 
 
The application was advertised as a departure to the Development Plan.  No responses 
have been received. 
 
Highways 
 
I do not consider that there are any highway safety implications arising from the proposed 
change of use from A3 to A1 (restricted). Adequate parking and access is indicated 
through the previously consented scheme. 
 
I recommend that no highway objections are raised to the proposal subject to the 
conditions relating to planning application 2013/1616 being fully discharged prior to 
beneficial occupation of any of the units 
 
APPRAISAL 
 
This application is reported to Committee for decision as it is recommended for approval 
and constitutes a departure to the Development Plan. 
 
Planning permission is sought for the construction of a retail unit (class A1) on land at 
Heron Way, Swansea Enterprise Park.  Planning permission was granted in March 2014 
for the construction four food and drink units (class A3), car park and associated works 
(Ref: 2013/1616).  The current planning application relates to one of these approved units 
which is proposed to be changed from an A3 unit to an A1 unit.  It is noted the 
development has not commenced on site.  The original planning permission included a 
condition to restrict the use of the units to A3 uses only in order to minimise the impact of 
the development on the vitality, viability and attractiveness of Morriston district centre. 
 
The application has been submitted as one of the intended occupiers and anchor tenants 
of the original development ‘Greggs’ bakery has taken the decision that the business can 
not operate from a Class A3 unit.  As such this planning application has been submitted to 
change one of the units to a restricted A1 bakery.  
 
The application site is a parcel of brownfield land located off Heron Way which forms the 
sites southern and western boundaries, beyond which lies vacant land to the west and 
KFC and Burger King drive-thru restaurants to the south.  The Premier Inn hotel forms the 
site’s northern boundary while Upper Forest Way forms the site’s eastern boundary. 
 
It should be noted that planning permission has also been granted (Ref: 2013/1020) on an 
area of land adjoining the site for ‘Construction of a coffee shop with drive through, car 
park and ancillary works’.  This scheme has not yet been implemented. 

Page 38



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

 
MAIN ISSUES 
 
The main issues are considered to be: the principle of the proposed development in this 
location; consideration of the consequences of flooding associated with the proposed 
development; the impacts on the character and appearance of the area; the impacts on 
parking and highway safety. 
 
The following City and County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan 2008 (UDP) policies 
are relevant to the consideration of this proposal: AS2 (Design and Layout), AS6 
(Parking), EV1 (Design), EV2 (Siting and Location), EV3 (Accessibility), EV36 
(Development and Flood Risk), EC3 (Established Industrial and Commercial Areas), EC4 
(New Retail Development), EC7 (Enterprise Park Retailing), EC9 (Out-of-Centre 
Retailing).  Furthermore the Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) entitled ‘Swansea 
Enterprise Park Planning Policies’ is also relevant. 
 
In addition Planning Policy Wales provides up to date national policy guidance together 
with TAN 4 ‘Retailing in Town Centres’ and TAN 23 ‘Economic Development’. 
 
There are no residential dwellings in close proximity to the site as such it is not considered 
that the proposal would raise any significant concerns in this respect. 
 
In terms of the character and appearance of the area there is no material difference to the 
visual appearance of unit 1 granted planning permission under 2013/1616 and the 
proposed unit under this current planning application.  As such it is not considered the 
proposal would raise any concerns in respect of the impact of the development on the 
character and appearance of this commercial area. 
 
In respect of flooding issues the previous planning application was accompanied by a 
flooding consequences assessment and the comments of NRW were taken into 
consideration when determining the planning application.  The consequences of flooding 
at the site were considered to be acceptable subject to the provision of a flood 
management plan by condition.  There have been no material changes in circumstances 
which would result in a departure from this viewpoint.  The development would therefore 
accord with UDP Policies EV2 and EV36 subject to the provision of a flood management 
plan, which can be secured by condition. 
 
Principle of the proposed development 
 
The UDP proposals map indicates the application site falls outside the retail zone defined 
in EC7 and outside of any district centre.  Furthermore, the SPG indicates that the site is 
located within Zone D which supports proposals included within Use Classes B1, B2 and 
B8 of the Use Classes Order 1987. 
 
The retail policies of the UDP are generally aimed at supporting the maintenance and 
enhancement of the established shopping structure. They aim to prevent the dispersal of 
major retail investment to locations outside established shopping centres where such 
development would serve to undermine the appeal and ultimately the success of nearby 
centres.  Policy EC9 states that retail development at out of centre sites will be resisted 
except for certain exceptional forms, for example small scale shopping facilities required 
to meet local needs.   

Page 39



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

 
Aside from the exceptions stipulated, Policy EC9 does also acknowledge that an out-of-
centre retail scheme in excess of local needs provision may be considered appropriate if a 
clear deficiency in shopping provision exists and there are no sequentially preferable sites 
available. Policy EC7 relates to proposals within the Enterprise Park and states that 
proposals for new retail development within the retail zone will be restricted to the sale of 
bulky goods items that do not pose a threat to the vitality, attractiveness and viability of the 
City Centre and surrounding town, district and local shopping centres. The Policy also 
states that proposals for new retail development outside the retail zone would not be 
permitted.  The key criteria against which all significant retail proposals are considered are 
set out in Policy EC4. As well as the standard tests of need and sequential suitability, the 
policy emphasises that schemes must not adversely impact on the vitality and viability of 
established centres; must be compatible with the function, scale and character of the 
centre near to which it is located; and be sited in a highly accessible location.   
 
National planning policy guidance on retail policy is set out in PPW, Chapter 10. The 
guidance makes clear that town, district and local centres are the most appropriate 
locations for retailing, in the interests of sustaining communities, enhancing accessibility 
and safeguarding the vitality and viability of established shopping centres. The critical 
factors for determining a planning application for a retail scheme best located in a town 
centre are identified as: the need for the development; the sequential approach to site 
selection; the impact on existing centres; accessibility and transport implications; and 
compatibility with the development plan. In terms of the sequential test, developers are 
required to demonstrate that all potential town centre locations have been thoroughly 
assessed before edge of centre sites are considered, requiring a flexibility of approach 
from both the developer and planning authority. The guidance makes clear that the retailer 
must be innovative about the format, design and scale of the proposed store, which 
should be tailored to fit local circumstances. In establishing the need for the development, 
the retailer is required to demonstrate quantitative need, in precedence of any qualitative 
need.  Fundamentally, the guidance makes clear that the scale, type and location of out-
of-centre retail developments should not be such as to be likely to undermine the vitality, 
attractiveness and viability of those town centres that would otherwise serve the 
community well. 
 
PPW and TAN 23 also explain, for planning purposes, the Welsh Government defines 
economic development as development of land and buildings for activities that generate 
wealth, jobs and incomes. Economic land uses include the traditional employment land 
uses (offices, research and development, industry and warehousing), as well as uses 
such as retail, tourism, and public services. The construction and energy sectors are also 
important to the economy and are sensitive to planning policies. 

In addition PPW states that Local Planning Authorities should adopt a positive and 
constructive approach to applications for economic development. In determining 
applications for economic land uses authorities should take account of the likely economic 
benefits of the development based on robust evidence. In assessing these benefits, key 
factors include:  

• the numbers and types of jobs expected to be created or retained on the site;  

• whether and how far the development will help redress economic disadvantage or 
support regeneration priorities, for example by enhancing employment opportunities or 
upgrading the environment;  

• a consideration of the contribution to wider spatial strategies, for example for the growth 
or regeneration of certain areas. Page 40



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

 
Key Issues 
 
Preventing retail development that is likely to have an unacceptable adverse impact on 
established shopping centres is a key objective of planning policy at both local and 
national level. Maintaining the health of the City Centre and all district and local shopping 
centres within Swansea is important to sustain communities, support other essential 
services, and provide combined shopping facilities. The application site does not lie within 
any established shopping centre and the abovementioned UDP policies make clear that 
significant new retail proposals in such locations will only be supported if it can be 
demonstrated that: 
 
a) there is an identified need (quantitative/qualitative) for the size of store proposed; 
b) no suitable sequentially preferable sites exist 
c) there would be no detrimental impact on established centres and stores; and 
d) it is a highly accessible site and can realistically be reached by a choice of means of 
transport 
 
It is the extent to which the application sufficiently addresses matters a - d above together 
with consideration to the economic benefits that are most critical to the consideration of 
the principle of the proposal. These key elements are appraised under the headings 
below: 
 
Need 
 
New retail proposals not within existing centres must, as a starting point, demonstrate a 
need for the scale of provision that is proposed.  PPW states that where need is a 
consideration, precedence should be accorded to establishing quantitative need and it is 
for the LPA to determine and justify the weight to be given to any qualitative assessment.  
 

The A1 retail element would have an internal floor area of 111.5sqm.  In terms of 
quantitative needs, no information has been provided in this respect, however, it is not 
considered necessary for an A1 retail development of this scale to provide justification in 
quantitative need terms.  In terms of qualitative need, the applicant contends that unlike 
the southern end of the Enterprise Park, the business and commercial area within which 
the site lies is not currently served by a small scale bakery facility.  The proposed unit is 
intended to serve the employment area and to provide a complementary facility that would 
add to the existing offer in this part of the Enterprise Park.  The intended occupier ‘Greggs’ 
have submitted a letter in support of the proposal which states that the unit will be an 
addition to Greggs existing portfolio in Swansea and will not affect their units within the 
Enterprise Park and Morriston, which would suggest that the proposal may meet demand 
for such facilities within the Enterprise Park catchment.   
 
Overall, no quantitative need has been demonstrated, however, it is accepted that the 
requirement to demonstrate such need would generally be applicable to larger scale 
developments.  The proposal would add to the choice on offer in this part of the Enterprise 
Park which would equate to a qualitative need, however, there are already a number of 
competing food retail outlets in this part of the Enterprise park as such it is considered that 
limited weight can be given, in terms of establishing a need for the proposed development.  
 

Page 41



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

 
Alternative Sites (Sequential Test) 
 
The applicant asserts that the intended occupier is represented in Morriston district centre, 
as such they would not seek to open new premises in this sequentially preferable location.  
In any event the applicant contends that Morrison district centre is a separate catchment 
to that proposed for the new premises.  They consider the sequential test to be of 
academic value only in this situation as it would not encourage investment in Morriston by 
the intended operator, rather it would result in the development as a whole (as previously 
approved) not coming forward as without the anchor tenants committing to occupying the  
proposed A1 unit, the development would not be viable. 
 
Notwithstanding this the applicant has undertaken an analysis of available sites within 
Morriston district centre focusing on units of approximately 80-130 sqm.  Two sites 
identified at Clase Road and Treharne Road were considered both unsuitable and 
unavailable.  Five units were potentially identified within Morrison including premises on 
Woodfield Street and Sway Road, but were discounted on the grounds that the units 
would not address the requirements of the end user, do not benefit from the required 
planning permission or would be too close to an existing operator.        
 
Its is acknowledged that the sequential test has limited value in relation to this proposal 
which is intended to serve part of the Enterprise Park catchment, however, the test 
demonstrates that there are no units available within Morriston District centre that would 
be suitable to the intended operator.  In this respect it is considered that the sequential 
test has been satisfied.  
 
Impact upon established shopping centres 
 
It is clear that development plan policies and national guidance require new retail 
developments to safeguard against any significant adverse impacts to town centre vitality 
and viability. The proposal is for a modest A1 retail unit within a consented A3 scheme.  
The proposal is said to cater mainly for Enterprise Park users and the fact that the 
intended occupier already has a premises in Morriston, yet are looking to invest in a 
further premises in the Enterprise Park, would endorse this view.  Following on from this, it 
is considered that existing users of the Enterprise Park would be unlikely to make 
dedicated trips by foot, bike or car across the dual carriage way to Morriston for the retail 
offer proposed at this unit, particularly when parking in Morriston is at a premium.  In 
addition, it is considered those making a dedicated trip to Morriston to take advantage of 
its services are likely to make linked trips to take advantage of its food and drink offer 
rather than make a further trip to the Enterprise Park.  It is also an important material 
consideration that there are a considerable number of food outlets within very close 
proximity to the application site including a KFC, Burger King, ASDA instore café, 
Taybarns, the approved drive through coffee shop adjacent to the site and the approved 
A3 units on the previously approved scheme.  The proposal would therefore add to the 
existing offer that serves the Enterprise Park catchment.   
 
In order to mitigate any potential impacts on Morriston and also the City Centre, the 
applicant has stated they would be willing to accept a condition that the unit may only be 
used as a retail bakery and for no other purpose in class A1.  A condition to this effect has 
been used elsewhere by the LPA to restrict the retail element of other similar 
developments.   

Page 42



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

 
Notwithstanding the applicant’s contention that the proposal would not have a significant 
impact on Morriston district centre, £25,000 was offered for improvements to Morriston 
district centre under the previous planning permission, which was secured through a 
unilateral undertaking under Section 106 of the Planning Act 1990.  Legal advice has 
confirmed it will be necessary for the applicant to provide a further unilateral undertaking 
to secure this contribution as the previous unilateral undertaking is not transferable to this 
application, should planning permission be granted.  As such, if approved, it is 
recommended approval is subject to a further unilateral undertaking in order to secure this 
financial contribution.  The contribution is noted and would be required to fund future 
enhancement programmes which will be aimed mainly at improvements to Morriston 
Conservation Area. 
 
In light of the above, it is considered the imposition of a condition to restrict the A1 use to 
a retail bakery would prevent an open A1 retail use and would serve to limit the impact of 
the development on Morriston district centre.  The provision of £25,000 would be used to 
enhance Morrison district centre which would serve to act as mitigation for any detrimental 
retail impacts arising from the development.  In this regard, on balance, it is considered 
that by virtue of the scale of the proposed unit and the restrictions to its use, which can be 
secured by condition, the development would be unlikely to result in any significant 
impacts to the vitality, viability and attractiveness of Morriston district centre and this 
should be given significant weight in the assessment of the principle of the development. 
 
Accessibility 
 
The site is located approximately 1.5km from junction 45, linked to the site by the A4067 
and A48.  Heron Way is lit and in the main has adequate pedestrian access. The proposal 
includes the extension of the existing footpath on Upper Forest Way / Heron Way which 
will provide a pedestrian link to the site.  National cycle network route 43 runs approx 
360m west of the site, this predominantly traffic free route links to other segregated routes 
between Swansea to the south and Ystradgynlais to the north.  The site has access to a 
half hourly bus service running along Clase Road which is located within the 400m 
recommended limit as set out in the Institution of Highways and Transportation (IHT) 
Document Public Transport in Development. 
 
Having regard to the above the site is considered to be highly accessible and would 
comply with the relevant UDP policies in this respect.  The fact the development is 
accessible by a range of transport modes is considered to carry moderate weight in favour 
of the proposal. 
 
Economic and regeneration benefits 
 
The site is currently a derelict brownfield site which is visible from both Heron Way and 
Upper Forest Way.  Clearly there is merit in bringing this land into economic use in terms 
of job creation and the positive impacts on the visual amenity and this was recognised 
when planning permission was granted for the original scheme. 
 
The applicant has indicated that the proposed unit would create 9 full time equivalent jobs.  
Additional indirect employment would be generated through servicing the units.  In this 
respect the development would make an important contribution to employment within the 
area. 

Page 43



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

 
In line with the advice in PPW the potential economic benefits arising from the 
development is a material planning consideration. However, in the absence of any robust 
evidence to quantify the economic benefits and in view of the relatively small scale of the 
proposal, it is considered that limited weight can be given in favour of the proposal in this 
respect. 
 
Conclusions and the principle of the development 
 
It is acknowledged that the proposed development is a departure to UDP policies EC7 and 
EC9 which seek to prevent new non-bulky retail development within the Enterprise Park 
and new out of centre retailing (except in defined circumstances).  Notwithstanding this, 
the key question for the Authority is whether any anticipated adverse impacts arising from 
the development is regarded as being so materially adverse and over-riding that this 
would outweigh any benefits associated with the proposed development.  In the balancing 
exercise it is considered the lack of demonstrable impact on Morriston district centre, the 
accessible location of the development and its economic and regeneration benefits would 
tip the balance in favour of accepting the principle of development on this site. In this 
respect the proposal is, on balance, considered to be acceptable in retail policy terms. 
 
Access and Highway Safety 
 
The Head of Highways and Transportation has raised no objection to the proposal. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed development would replace an A3 unit on a consented retail parade to an 
A1 unit.  Whilst the provision of new non-bulky retail development within the Enterprise 
Park is a departure to UDP policies EC7 and EC9 it is not considered that the proposal by 
virtue of its scale and retail offer proposed would result in any significant impacts to the 
vitality, viability or attractiveness of Morriston district centre.  Accordingly the proposal is, 
on balance, considered to be an acceptable departure to the above UDP policies.  
Moreover, the proposal is considered to be satisfactory in terms of: the consequences of 
flooding; its impacts on the character and appearance of the area; its impacts on 
residential amenity; and its impacts on access and highways safety.  It is not considered 
that the provisions of the Human Rights Act would raise any further material planning 
considerations as such the application is recommended for conditional approval. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
That the application be referred to the DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT AND 
CONTROL COMMITTEE with a recommendation that the application be APPROVED, 
subject to the following conditions and the applicant entering into a S106 Planning 
Obligation to provide a contribution of £25,000 to fund regeneration initiatives 
within Morriston district centre. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
APPROVE, subject to the following conditions: 

Page 44



AREA 1 DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 22ND JULY 2014 

 

ITEM 6 (CONT’D)  APPLICATION NO. 2014/0765 

 

1 The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than five years from the 
date of this decision. 

 Reason: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990.  

 

2 The premises shall be used as a retail bakery shop only and for no other purpose 
(including any other purpose in Class A1) of the Schedule to the Town and 
Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that 
Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or 
without modification). 

 Reason: In order to minimise the retail impact of the development on the vitality, 
viability and attractiveness of Morriston district centre.  

 

3 Prior to the commencement of development a flood management plan for the site 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be completed and operated in accordance with the approved 
plan. 

 Reason: In order to manage the risks of flooding at the site.  

 

4 The development shall not be occupied until a method for its ventilation and fume 
extraction, if required, has been implemented in accordance with a scheme to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 Reason: To minimise noise and nuisance to neighbouring uses.  

 

5 Deliveries, waste collections and the unloading of pallets and/or cages shall only 
take place between 06.00hrs and 22.00hrs. 

 Reason: To minimise noise and disturbance to surrounding occupiers.  

 

6 The materials used for the external surfaces of the development shall be in 
accordance with details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before the development is commenced. 

 Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.  

 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1 The development plan covering the City and County of Swansea is the City and 

County of Swansea Unitary Development Plan. The following policies were 
relevant to the consideration of the application: AS2, AS6, EV1, EV2, EV3, EV36, 
EC3, EC4, EC7 and EC9. 

 
PLANS 
 
SP311(G) - P100 site location plan, P102 site plan, P103 proposed site plan, P106 
proposed elevations, P107 proposed elevations, P101 existing site plan, P104 proposed 
floor plan, P105 proposed roof plan, dated 20th May 2014 
 

 
Page 45


	Agenda
	2 Disclosures of Personal and Prejudicial Interests.
	3 Minutes.
	5 Determination of planning applications under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
	Two Stage Voting
	CONTENTS PAGE - 22ND JULY 2014
	SCHEDULE - 22ND JULY 2014


